OA 10-4.91

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 20 1991

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. 78,563
DCA NOS. 90-01618
90-01619
CONSOLIDATED
CIRCUIT CASE NO. GCG-88-2410

E. D. "BUD" DIXON, Clerk

of Court, Polk County, Florida,

Appellee.

ON CERTIFICATION OF JUDGMENT REQUIRING IMMEDIATE RESOLUTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF FLORIDA

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH LEWIS, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 249580
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL - SUITE 1501
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, the State of Florida, will designate references to the Record on Appeal by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page number. References to the transcript of the hearing on the Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, held on February 10, 1989, will be by the letter "H" followed by the appropriate page numbers. References to the transcript of the Motion for Rehearing held on August 1, 1989, will be by the letter "M" followed by the appropriate page numbers. References to the transcript of the Rehearing held on October 23, 1989, and November 30, 1989, will be by the letter "T" followed by the appropriate page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal was initiated on behalf of the State of Florida after the lower court issued a declaratory statement adjudging that Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional, in part, in that it requires payments made to the Child Support Depository by check to be disbursed within four (4) working days (R. III, 447-52).

On September 30, 1988, the Appellee, E.D. Dixon ("Dixon"), Clerk of the Circuit Court and County Court for Polk County, Florida, served an Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. Therein, Dixon sought a declaration that Section 61.181(5), October, 1988, Florida Statutes, as amended in unconstitutional in that the Legislature, by requiring the clerk, as Administrator of the Central Depository for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, to disburse funds to payees within two (2) days after receiving a payor's personal check, was unlawfully requiring Dixon to extend credit in the form of county funds to payors in violation of Article VII, Section 10, of the Florida Constitution (R. I, 16-24). Dixon also alleged a violation of Article III, Section 11(a)(10), prohibiting special laws and an protection violation. Id.

A temporary injunction order was issued enjoining the State of Florida from enforcing Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes (R. I, 25-27) The injunction was continued until the lower court made a final determination of Dixon's Amended Complaint (R. II,

286-87). HRS' Motion to Intervene was granted (R. I, 52) and on February 10, 1989, a non-jury trial on the Amended Complaint was held. The hearing produced the following relevant testimony:

Dixon testified that he establishes the policy of the Polk County Clerk's Office (H. 33-4). The policy and practice regarding payments made by personal check to the Child Support Depository Account ("CSDA") is to wait 14 days before disbursing funds from this account (H. 30-31). Despite the October 1988, amendment to Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes, requiring the disbursal of funds paid into the CSDA within two (2) days after the receipt of a payor's personal check, Dixon testified that his practice regarding the disbursal of funds had not changed because of the injunction (H. 19-20) issued by the lower court forbidding the State of Florida from enforcing the amended provision.

If funds have been disbursed from the CSDA and the Clerk's office subsequently receives notice that a personal check has been returned for insufficient funds, Dixon's policy is to transfer funds from the general operating account to the CSDA (H. 22).

The CSDA contains, in addition to child support, alimony and separate maintenance payments, a 3% fee assessed by law, based on the cost of operating the CSDA (H. 25). Dixon testified that he believed that this fee is transferred out of the CSDA and into the general operating fund once a month (H. 23-24). The 3% fee for 1986, 1987 and 1988 totals \$394,789.00, \$462,842.00 and

\$505,420.00, respectively (H. 42), and in 1988, checks to the CSDA for which Dixon's office has been unable to collect totaled \$2,425.85 (H. 49).

Dixon's office does not collect the 25-cent fee, imposed by Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes, upon payments made into the CSDA by personal check (H. 26), but does assess a \$10.00 penalty fee upon returned checks (H. 39). While admitting that some trust accounts earn interest (H. 46), Dixon deposits the funds of the CSDA in a non-interest-bearing account (H. 44). Dixon testified that while it is his policy to wait 14 days before disbursing funds paid into the CSDA by personal check, he waits only two days before disbursing funds paid into the CSDA by business check (H. 30-31).

Numerous complaints have been received by Dixon's office regarding the delay in receiving child support and alimony from the CSDA (H. 40). The CSDA has been in existence over 16 years and has never had a negative balance (Id.).

The Appellee then called two employees of Polk County's Clerk's office to testify. James Corley, the supervisor of the CSDA (H. 63), testified that his department creates an individual account for each person receiving payments from the CSDA (H. 65). In 1988, 5.82% of the payments into the CSDA were by personal check, representing \$1.167 million (H. 84). When payment into the CSDA is by personal check, the clerk's office has disbursed

funds from the CSDA to the payee in less than 14 days in one instance out of 6,000 or 7,000 payments (H. 93).

Peter Murphy, the finance director of Polk County Clerk's Office (H. 117) testified that he balances the CSDA to zero every month (H. 121). Murphy has received notice that a check to the CSDA has failed to clear within 6 or 7 days from its receipt at the clerk's office, but not within 2 or 3 days (H. 129-30). Murphy testified that it is very rare that the clerk's office cannot collect on bad checks (H. 157) and that it is the policy of Dixon's office to wait 14 days to distribute funds from the CSDA to payees, even when the office has received notice that the check to the CSDA has already cleared (H. 198).

The funds in the CSDA are on deposit at the Southeast Bank of Bartow (H. 175). Lyle Walker, the vice-president of the Southeast Bank of Bartow is responsible for the CSDA (H. 174-5). Walker testified that he could not assure Dixon whether a check had cleared within two business days after its deposit (H. 181). Walker testified that he was familiar with the Expedited Funds Availability Act (H. 176) and that he complied with the Act's mandates (H. 178), which require checks written on accounts within the State of Florida to be credited to an account within three business days and checks written on non-local or out-of-state accounts to be credited within seven business days (H. 178-9). Walker testified that the CSDA has never had a negative balance (H. 182).

William Traxler, the Vice President of Community National Bank at Bartow (H. 186), testified that in his opinion, the Expedited Funds Availability Act exposes banks to potential losses because banks are required to credit accounts with funds before the bank has received notice of whether a check is good (H. 190). Traxler conducted a survey for ten days, finding that he received notice of whether a check cleared within 4 to 5 business days (H. 191).

Dixon then called Geraldine Brooks and Jerry Alphonso to testify regarding the CSDA in Lee and in Hillsborough Counties. Brooks, the supervisor of the CSDA in Lee County (H. 212), testified that prior to October, 1988, Lee County did not disburse funds paid into the CSDA by personal check until 15 days had elapsed from the date of deposit of the check. Complaints had been made because of this practice (Id.).

Since October, 1988, the Lee County Clerk's Office has complied with Section 61.181, Florida Statutes, disbursing funds within two days (H. 217-8, 230-1). From October, 1988, through January, 1989, the CSDA has received 3,152 payments by personal check, three of which were initially returned (H. 224). The Lee County Clerk's Office was able to collect on these checks and has suffered no monetary losses since complying with Section 61.181, Florida Statutes (H. 218).

Brooks testified that funds are transferred to the CSDA from the fee account when funds have been disbursed to payees prior to the clerk's office receiving notice that a check to the CSDA has not cleared (H. 221-2). The computer program utilized by Lee County Clerk's Office is designed to separate the 3% fee charged for operating the CSDA from the child support payments (H. 223-4). Brooks testified that the 25-cent fee is collected on checks for child support (H. 212), and that the CSDA is balanced to \$8,000.00 every month, the hold amount left remaining in the CSDA (H. 223).

Jerry Alphonso, Chief Deputy Clerk of Hillsborough County (H. 231), testified that prior to October, 1988, his office did not disburse funds to payees from the CSDA until ten days had elapsed from the date of the deposit of the personal check. Since October, 1988, Hillsborough County has disbursed funds within two days (Id.) as required by Section 61.181, Florida Statutes. Since October, 1988, 52 checks remain uncollected (H. 233) and Alphonso guessed that it would take two weeks to receive notice that a check had been returned for insufficient funds (H. 236).

The State of Florida called Donna Wimberly, Deputy Clerk of Leon County Clerk's Office and supervisor of the department handling the CSDA for the Leon County area (H. 239). She testified that funds are distributed within two days of receipt

in compliance with Section 61.181, Florida Statutes (H. 242), and that 6% of the payments into the CSDA are by personal check (H. 240). The 25-cent fee on checks for child support is collected by the CSDA in Leon County (H. 245). Wimberly estimated that it takes about 14 days to learn whether a payment into the CSDA by check has cleared (H. 242).

At no time has the Leon County Clerk's Office transferred funds from a general operating account to the CSDA (H. 241). Although a technical shortage in the CSDA exists when a check to the CSDA is returned, the Leon County Clerk's Office does not reimburse the CSDA (H. 253). At all times, there were sufficient funds in the CSDA to cover any checks returned for insufficient funds (H. 246).

The State then called George Haynie, the Director of Accounting and Auditing of the State of Florida's Office of the Comptroller (H. 246-7). His department maintains the Child Support Depository Trust Fund (H. 248). The Trust Fund is designed to absorb the losses occasioned by checks returned for insufficient funds (H. 266). The Child Support Depository Administrator can apply to the Trust Fund to recover the amount of dishonored checks (H. 248) as well as the costs associated with attempting to collect dishonored checks (H. 249).

The Trust Fund is funded by \$100,000.00 seed money from the Legislature and the 25-cent fee on child support checks paid into

the CSDA (H. 267). One claim had been submitted to the Trust Fund for the amount of \$311.25 (H. 269).

Haynie testified that the CSDA is a trust account (H. 262). Haynie indicated that interest can properly be earned on trust accounts (H. 260) with the clerk's office retaining the interest and then turning the excess interest over to the County Commissioners (H. 263). Haynie characterized such interest and the fees the clerk's office collects for administering the CSDA as public money (H. 263).

Based on the evidence, the lower court rejected Dixon's claims, ordered the temporary injunction set aside and upheld the constitutionality of Section 61.181, Florida Statutes (R. III, 404-412). In rejecting the claim that Section 61.185(5) required the pledging of credit in violation of Article VII, Section 10, the lower court stated that

[t]he plaintiff did not present sufficient support the plaintiff's evidence to contention that §61.181(5) required him to violate this constitutional provision, that there was an imminent necessity for the plaintiff to have to improperly "pledge credit". The plaintiff was unable to show, by the nature of the projected activity of the account and checks processed therein, contractual agreement with depository bank, any order of the court or premise, or legal any other applicable evidence, that the plaintiff could comply with the statute only by improperly pledging credit. The plaintiff did not show that a present, justiciable controversy exists in order for the court address this constitutional issue by means of the declaratory judgment sought by the plaintiff.

Id. (emphasis in original).

Dixon filed a Motion for Rehearing on May 4, 1989 (R. III, 413-417) arguing that the lower court's order of April 25, 1989, was contrary to the evidence presented with regard to the issue of pledging credit (R. III, 414), and further, that the lower court's order was in error in that an actual controversy need not exist in order for the court to render a declaratory judgment. Id. The State and HRS both filed Responses in Opposition to the Motion for Rehearing (R. III, 418-22 and 424-25), and on August 1, 1989, the lower court held a hearing on the issue of whether to grant Dixon a rehearing (M. 1-46).

At this motion hearing, counsel for Dixon noted that Section 61.181, Florida Statutes, had been amended in 1989, lengthening the time from two (2) to four (4) days within which the disbursal of funds paid into the CSDA by personal check must be made (M. 5). The 1989 amendments also deleted the requirement that the CSDA collect 25-cents on child support checks to be paid into the Child Support Depository Trust Fund (M. 6).

The lower court stated that it was interested in the existence of a present controversy (M. 16). Counsel for Dixon then stated that since May 1, 1989, Dixon's office has complied with Section 61.181, Florida Statutes (M. 9). Eight (8) personal

checks have been returned a second time and funds have been transferred from the general revenue account to the CSDA for the amount of these eight (8) checks (M. 11-12). Subsequent to this transfer of funds, six (6) of the eight (8) checks were made good (M. 22), leaving Dixon with two (2) checks with which to apply to the Child Support Depository Trust Account for reimbursement.

The lower court granted the Motion for Rehearing, limiting the rehearing to one issue, namely, whether "Section 61.181(5) is unconstitutional, in whole or in part, in that it requires [Appellee Dixon], a public entity, to give or lend its credit to aid individuals in violation of Article VII, Section X, of the Florida Constitution" (R. III, 426-27).

At the rehearing, held on October 23, 1989, and on November 30, 1989, the court noticed all proceedings held prior to the rehearing (T. 6). The rehearing produced the following relevant facts for this appeal:

Richard Melvin Weiss, the Chief Deputy Clerk of Polk County (T. 6-7), testified that the Clerk's office maintains three funds or accounts -- the budgetary fund, the general operating account, containing fees paid to the Clerk's office and the child support depository account ("CSDA"), containing the domestic relations payments (T. 8).

Prior to May 1, 1989, the Clerk's practice was to wait ten (10) working days before disbursing funds for child support, separate maintenance and alimony paid into the CSDA by personal check (T. 8-9). When a check paid into the CSDA is returned as unsatisfied a second time, the policy prior to May 1, 1989, was

to transfer money to the CSDA from the general operating account (T. 15-16). This transfer of funds from the general operating account to the CSDA had occurred occasionally prior to May 1, 1989 (T. 17).

Since May 1, 1989, the practice has been to disburse the funds paid into the CSDA by personal check within 24 hours (T. 9). Since May, 1989, the transfer of funds from the general operating account to the CSDA has occurred more frequently because the disbursal of funds is made prior to notice that the check has been dishonored (T. 17)

Eight (8) checks have been written by the clerk's office transferring funds from their general operating account to their CSDA since May 1, 1989 (T. 21). The reason a check is written each time the clerk's office disburses funds which have been returned twice as unsatisfied is so that, during the audit, documentation will exist for each disbursement from the general fund (T. 22).

Despite the knowledge that Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes, allows four days for disbursal, Weiss testified that disbursal of funds is made within 24 hours (T. 18). The reason stated for this policy is that the bank where the CSDA funds are deposited could not, within four days, notify the Clerk's office whether the personal check had been dishonored, and since other payments to the Clerk's office are disbursed within 24 hours of receipt, the office "decided that it would be best just to handle all of [the payments] that way" (T. 18, 19).

Funds paid into the CSDA are deposited in the bank the day after receipt at the Clerk's office (T. 11).

The policy regarding returned checks was and is to notify the payor that the check had been returned and that a \$15.00 statutory fee was due; the check is then deposited with the bank a second time (T. 22).

On cross-examination, Weiss testified that in addition to the payment to the custodial parent, the CSDA includes a 3% fee, up to \$5.00, of the payment to the custodial parent (T. 26). During 1988, the fees in the CSDA totaled \$505,420.00 (T. 27, R. IV, Defendant's Exhibit No. 1). Weiss testified further that a large percentage of the \$505,420.00 collected during 1988 derived from the 3% fee collected under Section 61.181, Florida Statutes, designed to cover the costs incurred by the CSDA in receiving, reporting and disbursing child support, alimony and maintenance payments (T. 28).

The procedure of the Clerk's office regarding the 3% fee is to deposit the fee into the CSDA and then transfer the total amount of the fees received in one month out of the CSDA and into the general operating account at the end of each month (T. 30).

Eight percent of the payments in the CSDA are in the form of personal checks (T. 33), totaling \$1.5 million (T. 73). Of the \$1.5 million paid into the CSDA, the Clerk's office was unable to get reimbursement from the payor on eight (8) checks (T. 34) and the Clerk's office had made a request to the State's Comptroller Office for reimbursement out of the Child Support Depository Trust Fund for these eight checks (T. 31-2).

On redirect examination, Weiss testified that the 3% fee was public money and was turned over to the Board of County Commissioners at the end of the year (T. 43).

Peter Murphy, an employee of the Polk County Clerk's Office in the Finance Department (T. 52), testified that since May 1, 1989, eleven (11) checks to the CSDA had been returned a second time (T. 63, 83), and that the eleven checks totaled \$1,063.98 the Clerk's office (T. 73). Murphy testified that transferred money from its general operating account to the CSDA for these eleven (11) checks (T. 63). Subsequently, three (3) of the eleven checks were made good (T. 64-5, 83) by the payor. remaining eight (8) checks had been submitted to the State's Depository Trust Fund (T. 72) and the Clerk's office had been reimbursed from this fund in the amount of \$918.00 (T. 73). checks for which the Clerk's office did not receive reimbursement were not personal checks paid into the depository under Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes (T. 84), but were payments made pursuant to Income Deduction Orders (T. 74).

Closing arguments were made and the lower court issued a Declaratory Judgment adjudging Section 61.181(5), Florida Statutes, unconstitutional in that it requires payments made to the Child Support Depository by check to be disbursed within four (4) working days as violative of Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. The State of Florida timely filed a Notice of Appeal (R. V, 462-3).

On September 6, 1991, the District Court of Appeal, Second District, upon its own motion, certified pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(5) of the Constitution of Florida, that the Order of the trial court passes upon a question of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction on September 10, 1991.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court abused its discretion when it granted Dixon a rehearing on the basis of events that occurred at least two (2) months after the initial hearing. Such evidence did not present the lower court with newly discovered evidence, but new evidence, and as such, failed to provide the lower court with a proper basis upon which to grant a rehearing.

Moreover, the lower court erred when it held that Dixon pledges public credit when funds are disbursed from the CSDA prior to the recovery of funds paid into the CSDA by check. The essence of pledging credit in violation of the constitution is the imposition of some new liability. No new liability has been imposed upon Dixon or Polk County because the fees Dixon imposes and collects for operating the CSDA more than cover the costs associated with operating the CSDA. Furthermore, even if the costs associated with operating the CSDA exceeded the fees collected, no unconstitutional pledging of credit would have occurred because Dixon, his office and Polk County taxpayers are insulated from liability.

Finally, if this Court construes the facts to have been such that a pledging of credit has occurred, the loan or pledge is for a public purpose and thus a violation of Article VII, Section 10 has not been shown.

ARGUMENT

I.

GRANTING DIXON'S MOTION FOR REHEARING CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR

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