10-4-91



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES,

CASE NUMBER: 78,563

Appellant,

vs.

HONORABLE E. D. "BUD" DIXON, ETC.,

Appellee. /

## NOTICE TO ADOPT

COMES NOW the Appellee in the above entitled action, HONORABLE E. D. "BUD" DIXON, etc., by and through his undersigned attorney, and files this his Notice to this Honorable Court requesting that this Court adopt, for purposes of the Appeal now pending in this matter, the Answer Brief filed by the Appellee when the action was pending before the District Court of Appeals for the Second District of the State of Florida.

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lower Court acted reasonably and within its broad discretion in granting a Rehearing to the Appellee, in accordance with Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530. Further, the taking of additional testimony was also within the broad discretion of the Court, trying the case without a jury, and is permissible under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530.

Based on the testimony and documentary evidence presented by the Court, most of which was uncontroverted by the Appellants, the Trial Court was justified in finding that Florida Statute 61.181(5) is unconstitutional, in part, in that it requires the Appellee, on receiving payments from a participating payor by personal check, to disburse the funds to a participating payee within four days of receipt of the personal check. The court had sufficient evidence to support the finding that this arbitrary time period for disbursement, when applied to situations involving payments being made by personal checks, resulted in the pledging of expenditure of public funds by the Appellee, who is charged with the responsibility of operating the CSDA, a trust account, in accordance with Florida Statute 61.181. Also, based upon the testimony and evidence presented, the court appropriately found that this pledging or extension of public credit, or public funds, was for a private purpose and that there was no clearly identified and concrete public purpose stated in the statute at issue.

<u>20</u>

Finally, the court did not err in failing to limit this decision to the Appellee Clerk of the Court of Polk County, Florida.

# ARGUMENT

## GRANTING DIXON'S MOTION FOR REHEARING DID NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR

The Appellee's Motion for Rehearing (R413), together with the arguments presented at the Motion Hearing (M1 through 46) and the Court Order (R406) does provide a proper basis for the granting for the Appellee's Motion for Rehearing, especially when taking into consideration the nature of the relief requested (Declaratory Judgment) and all the evidence and testimony presented at the initial Hearing.

The law is clearly established that a Motion for Rehearing is addressed to the sound discretion of the Court, and its rulings thereon will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is clearly shown. <u>Batteiger vs. Batteiger(1959</u> Fla APP D3) 109 So 2d 602. The Trial Court has broad discretion to grant a Rehearing in order to consider matters it may have overlooked or failed to consider, if it renders a decree that it is inequitable or erroneous, and to correct any error, if the court is convinced it has erred. Richmond vs. State Title & Guaranty Co.(1989, Fla App D3) 553 So 2d 1241. Ortiz vs. Ortiz(1988 Fla App D3) 211 So 2d 243. Cole vs. Cole(1961 Fla App D1) 133 So 2d 126. All of these cases are in direct conflict with the statement in Argument I of the initial brief of Appellant, State of Florida, who states, on Page 18, that the court is allowed some discretion. It is clear that the Appellate standard is whether the Trial Court abused the broad discretion: If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the Trial Court's action, then there can

be no abuse of discretion. <u>Crosby vs. Fleming & Sons, Inc.(1984 Fla</u> App D1) 447 So 2d 347. Appellant cites the case of <u>Monarch Cruise vs</u> <u>Leisure Time Tours</u> 456 So 2d 1278 (3d DCA 1984) for the proposition that some discretion is allowed in granting a Rehearing. A reading of the case, however, clearly indicates that the case stands for the proposition that the court does have broad discretion in granting a Motion for Rehearing and, if reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the Trial Court, the action is not unreasonable and there can be no finding of abuse of discretion. In the case sub judice, the granting of the Rehearing was reasonable and certainly within the reasonable discretion of the court under the circumstances of this case.

In the Appellee's Motion for Rehearing (R413), the Appellee attempted to point out the error in the Lower Court's interpretation of the Declaratory Judgment Statute, Florida Statute 86.011, in that the court required in its Order (R406) the showing of "imminent necessity" or "present controversy." That statute, in part, states that "...any Declaratory Judgment rendered pursuant to this chapter may be rendered by way of anticipation with respect to an act not yet done or, in any event, which has not yet happened and, in such a case, the judgment shall have the same binding effect with respect to that future act or event, and the rights or liability to arise therefrom, as if that act or event had already been done or had already happened before the judgment was rendered." Florida Statute 86.051. At no point in the statute does it require an "imminent necessity" or a "present controversy" as the court indicated in its Order (R406). In

<u>23</u>

fact, the Supreme Court ruled, in a case involving a request for a Declaratory Judgment on a Legislative enactment authorizing the expenditure of public money, that the right to use the declaratory decree statute does not depend on the existence of an actual controversy but depends on whether the movant shows he is in doubt as to the existence or non existence of some right, status, immunity, power or privilege, and that he is entitled to have such a doubt removed. Rosenhouse vs. 1950 Spring Term Grand Jury, In and For Dade County, et al. 56 So 2d 445(Fla 1952). This Second District Court of Appeal has followed this decision when it stated that there need not exist an actual present right of action, but "the appearance of ripening seeds of controversy is sufficient." Platt vs. General Development Corp. 122 So 2d 48 (1960 Fla App D2). See also James vs. Golson. 92 So 2d 180 (Fla 1957). The Florida Declaratory Judgment Act is prospective. Overman vs. State Board of Control. 62 So 2d 96 (Fla 1952). The Appellee, at the Hearing on the Motion for Rehearing, made argument that the court misinterpreted the requirements under the Declaratory Judgment Statute (M5, M8, M9). Therefore, based upon the law and misunderstanding of it as contained in the Court's Order (R406), the Appellee was entitled to a Rehearing. The evidence presented at the initial hearing clearly showed that in Polk County, where the statute was not being followed due to the entry of a Temporary Injunction, the Clerk would have had to extend credit of public funds if they were required to disburse on those personal checks prior to receipt of notice that the checks were good. In fact, in its ruling (R406), the court held that "a decision might be close

<u>24</u>

as to whether the Clerk would be pledging credit by any of the activities which the Clerk asserted might be necessary to cover any shortage in the CSDA account." The Appellee had also presented testimony of representatives from two other counties, Lee and Hillsborough, who testified that they were following the statute and, as a result of early disbursement to payees, they were having to reimburse their CSDA out of their General Revenue Account (H221 through 224, H231 through 236). Therefore the court entered its initial Order under the misunderstanding that the Declaratory Judgment law required us to show a present controversy as to our particular CSDA (M16). The Declaratory Judgment statute simply does not require that. The Appellee clearly was entitled to a Rehearing due to the error in the court's interpretation of the Declaratory Judgment law.

A Trial Court may grant a new trial on grounds other than those stated in the Motion for Rehearing, if reasonable notice is given to the parties, and they are allowed to be heard. <u>Kaufman vs.</u> <u>Sweet Corp, et al.</u> 144 So 2d 515(1962 Fla App D3). The court, at the hearing on the Motion for Rehearing, specifically addressed this issue and found no prejudice to the other parties since they would have the opportunity to contest the Appellee's evidence at the Rehearing itself (M17). The court felt that what we had previously was an evidentiary hearing, and the court was going to allow a subsequent hearing to present additional testimony, at which time the Appellant's could object (M18). At the hearing on the Motion for Rehearing, the Appellants were advised of the nature of the testimony that would be presented at the Rehearing, if granted, and they had adequate

<u>25</u>

opportunity to prepare for that Rehearing which was held approximately three months later. At the actual Rehearing on October 23, 1989, there were no objections, by the Appellants, to the introduction of any of the additional testimony or evidence presented.

Appellant contends that the Rehearing was improper since the Clerk was intending to present new evidence, rather than newly He cites the case of Noor vs. Continental discovered evidence. Casualty Co., 502 So 2d 363 (2d DCA 1987) for that proposition. Α reading of that case, however, indicates that it does not stand for that principal of law. Under the circumstances of that particular case, the court held that the denial of the Rehearing was not an abuse of discretion where the Appellant had an opportunity to request a continuance of the hearing on a Motion for Summary Judgment in order to obtain additional evidence, but failed to do so. The Appellant also cites the case of Diamond Cab Company of Miami vs. King, 146 So 2d 889 (Fla 1962) as standing for the proposition that when a Motion for Rehearing merely sets forth matters previously considered by the Trial Court, the Motion should be denied. However it does not stand for this proposition. The case simply states that a Rehearing is not a procedure for rearguing of an old case merely because the losing party disagrees with the judgment. In the case sub judice, the Clerk's Motion for Rehearing does not reargue old evidence but points out to the court that it did not properly apply the law of the Declaratory Judgment statute to the facts. The Appellee argued that no present controversy was needed for a Declaratory Judgment action to lie. Therefore this particular case cited by the Appellants is not

<u>26</u>

relevant to the issues. More relevant to the case sub judice is the case Kash N Karry vs. Garcia, 221 So 2d 786 (2d DCA 1969) which points out the distinction between Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530 and Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540. FRCP 1.540, which deals with obtaining relief from judgments, decrees and orders, states that a court can relieve a party from the effect of a Final Judgment decree or order for the following reasons:..."(2) newly discovered evidence which, by due diligence, could not have been discovered in time to move for new trial or rehearing." FRCP 1.530, dealing with Motions for Rehearing, states that "on a Motion for Rehearing on matters heard without a jury, including Summary Judgment, the court may open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, and enter a new judgment." In that case after entry of a Summary Final Judgment, the Appellee filed two Motions, one under Rule 1.530, on the basis of excusable neglect, and one under Rule 1.540, on the basis of newly discovered evidence. The Trial Court had set aside the Summary Judgment and the Appeal ensued. The Second DCA noted that a Rehearing was not proper because the Motion was not timely filed and that Rule 1.540 could not lie because the evidence was not newly discovered but was available at the time of the hearing. However, it considered both motions in "para materia" since the Trial Judge did not specify the motion or ground ruled upon. The Second DCA stated that had the Appellant used "newly discovered evidence" as a basis for a Motion for Rehearing under Rule 1.530, the Appellant would not have had to meet the technical tests of "newly discovered evidence" under Rule 1.540. The court stated that almost any additional evidence, whether newly

<u>27</u>

discovered or not, is sufficient for a timely Motion for Rehearing if, in the opinion of the Trial Judge, it presents a triable issue of material fact. But since the Motion was timely presented, the DCA could not offer relief under Rule 1.530, and they reversed and remanded on another basis, but the case does point out that, in a Motion for Rehearing under Rule 1.530, almost any evidence is acceptable. So, as stated at the Hearing on the Motion for Rehearing, the Trial Court indicated that when it entered its original Order, it anticipated that the Clerk would tell the court what happened after the Temporary Injunction was lifted (M4). The court felt that it still needed to hear if, after lifting the Temporary Injunction, there was a present controversy (M9). The Order contemplated that when the Clerk complied with the statute, the Clerk may then present evidence that, as to the Clerk, they could show a present controversy and a Hearing or continuation of the prior Hearing would be required on the new evidence (M13). The court invited the Clerk to show evidence of a present controversy (M16), and there was no prejudice to the Defendants since they could object or contradict the evidence at the Rehearing itself (M17). Therefore, based on Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.530 and the court's contemplation as to what was required or what evidence it wanted to hear, this evidence presented certainly constitutes a basis for a rehearing. In cases tried without a jury, the Trial Court is authorized, in granting a Motion for Rehearing, to set aside a judgment and to take additional testimony. Pensacola Chrysler Plymouth, Inc. vs. Costa. 195 So 2d 250 (1st DCA 1967). Therefore the actions of the Trial Court, in granting the Rehearing,

<u>28</u>

were justified in accordance with Rule 1.530 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and were certainly within the broad discretion of the Trial Court, acting without a jury, especially in a Declaratory Judgment action where it avoided the refiling of a new action by the Appellee.

## ARGUMENT II SECTION 61.181(5), AS AMENDED 10/1/88 AND 10/1/89 IS VIOLATIVE OF ARTICLE VII, SECTION 10 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Responding to the State's initial Brief, it should be noted that the factual representations made by the State are incorrect when compared with the transcripts of the testimony and the documentary evidence.

The State claims Dixon failed to show he was liable for worthless checks to the CSDA. The State further claims that Florida Statute 61.181(5) and Florida Statute 28.243(1) insulate Dixon from liability and that there was no showing that the taxpayers are ultimately responsible for these worthless checks. Neither of these statutes insualte Dixon from liability. There is no question that the Clerk is charged with the responsibility of operating the CSDA. In order for him to receive payment from one payor and disburse to specific payees, the Clerk obviously needs to set up a bank account in his name. Since the account is in his name, he is ultimately responsible for that account (H180). Since this is in the nature of a trust account, he has a fiduciary responsibility to each participant in the CSDA (H262). Finally, since he sends checks to the payees, the Clerk is liable to those payees for the amounts of those checks <u>FS</u> 673.401. The Appellee's Statement of Facts shows that witness after witness, including Appellant's own witnesses, confirmed that this is a fiduciary account and a zero balance is maintained to prevent one payee from being paid with funds of an unrelated payor (H243). The statute, as amended, creates a liability for the Clerk that did not

exist when he was maintaining this account prior to the 1988 Amendment. Prior to that time, only cash or its equivalent was accepted and, when amended on 10/1/86, personal checks could be accepted, but the Clerk was not obligated to disburse until the check was made good.

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